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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF RHODE ISLAND 

 
STEWARD HEALTH CARE SYSTEM LLC,          )  
BLACKSTONE MEDICAL CENTER, INC.,           ) 
f/k/a STEWARD MEDICAL HOLDING                  ) 
SUBSIDIARY FOUR, INC., BLACKSTONE          ) 
REHABILITATION HOSPITAL, INC., f/k/a           ) 
STEWARD MEDICAL HOLDING SUBSIDIARY ) 
FOUR REHAB, INC.,                                                ) 
       ) Case No. 13-405S 
 Plaintiffs,     ) 
       )     
       ) Honorable William E. Smith 
  v.     ) Magistrate Judge Almond 
       )  
BLUE CROSS & BLUE SHIELD OF  ) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
RHODE ISLAND,     ) 
       ) 
 Defendant.     ) 
       ) 
 

AMENDED COMPLAINT 

 Plaintiffs Steward Health Care System LLC, Blackstone Medical Center, Inc., 

f/k/a Steward Medical Holding Subsidiary Four, Inc., and Blackstone Rehabilitation 

Hospital, Inc., f/k/a Steward Medical Holding Subsidiary Four Rehab, Inc. (collectively 

“Steward”), by and through counsel, bring this action for treble damages against 

Defendant Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Rhode Island (“BCBSRI”) pursuant to Sections 1 

and 2 of the Sherman Act; Section 4 of the Clayton Act; and Sections 6-36-4, 6-36-5 and 

6-36-11(a) of the Rhode Island Antitrust Act, R.I. Gen Laws § 6-36-1 et seq., and for 

compensatory damages for BCBSRI’s tortious interference with Plaintiffs’ contractual 

and prospective contractual relations.  Plaintiffs complain and allege as follows: 
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Introduction 

1. This is an antitrust and tort suit arising out of BCBSRI’s unlawful 

attempted and actual monopolization of the market for the sale of commercial health 

insurance in Rhode Island, BCBSRI’s unlawful attempted and actual monopolization and 

monopsonization of the market for the commercial purchase of hospital services in Rhode 

Island, BCBSRI’s conspiracy to monopolize and/or monopsonize both markets, and 

BCBSRI’s unlawful agreements in restraint of trade with Lifespan and Thundermist 

Health Center in both markets, by among other things, on its own and in concert with 

others, interfering with and causing the failure of Steward’s attempt to acquire Landmark 

Medical Center (“Landmark”). 

2. BCBSRI is the dominant provider of commercial (i.e., non-governmental) 

health insurance in Rhode Island.  According to the Rhode Island Office of the Health 

Insurance Commissioner (“OHIC”), BCBSRI’s commercial health insurance policies 

cover more than 70% of the commercially insured population of Rhode Island, and its 

share has remained at that dominant level for years.  An American Medical Association 

(“AMA”) report recently classified Rhode Island as among the “top 10” states with the 

least competitive commercial health insurance markets. 

3. Blue Cross’s market dominance is not limited to the sale of commercial 

health insurance.  BCBSRI is also the dominant commercial purchaser of hospital 

services in Rhode Island.   

4. By engaging in the anticompetitive conduct described herein, including its 

refusal to negotiate in good faith for reasonable reimbursement rates for Landmark, its 

needless and intentional disruption of Landmark’s patient and payment flows, further 
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damaging the hospital’s already troubled finances, and its actively conspiring with others 

to ensure that they would not deal with Steward and would otherwise help block 

Steward’s entry, BCBSRI purposely thwarted Steward’s acquisition and planned 

revitalization of Landmark.  BCBSRI thereby excluded from Rhode Island a community-

based, integrated health care delivery system and accountable care organization, 

dedicated to delivering more affordable health care and more affordable health insurance 

in the communities it serves.  In so doing, BCBSRI unlawfully preserved its monopoly 

power and unreasonably restrained trade in the markets for the sale of commercial health 

insurance and the commercial purchase of hospital services, and harmed not only 

Steward, which had invested millions of dollars in its effort to acquire Landmark and 

enter the Rhode Island markets, but also Rhode Island consumers, who were deprived of 

the benefits Steward’s entry would have brought to Rhode Island—lower-cost, high 

quality hospital services and lower-cost, more affordable health insurance.  

Parties, Co-Conspirators and Jurisdiction 

5. Plaintiff Steward Health Care System LLC is a Delaware limited liability 

company with its principal place of business at 500 Boylston Street, Boston, 

Massachusetts 02116.  Steward is a community-based, integrated health care delivery 

system and accountable care organization, dedicated to delivering affordable health care 

in the communities it serves.  Steward currently owns 11 hospitals in Massachusetts, 

including Saint Anne’s Hospital and Morton Hospital, which are located near Rhode 

Island and serve patients from Rhode Island. 

6. Plaintiff Blackstone Medical Center, Inc., f/k/a Steward Medical Holding 

Subsidiary Four, Inc., is a Delaware corporation with a principal place of business at 500 
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Boylston Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02116, and a wholly owned subsidiary of 

Steward.  Blackstone was created to acquire and operate Landmark on behalf of Steward.  

7. Plaintiff Blackstone Rehabilitation Hospital, Inc., f/k/a Steward Medical 

Holdings Subsidiary Four Rehab, Inc., is a Delaware corporation with a principal place of 

business at 500 Boylston Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02116, and a wholly owned 

subsidiary of Steward.  Blackstone was created to acquire and operate the Rehabilitation 

Hospital of Rhode Island (“RHRI”) on behalf of Steward. 

8. Defendant Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Rhode Island is a Rhode Island 

non-profit hospital service and medical service corporation, as authorized and organized 

in accordance with R.I. Gen. Laws. § 27-19-1 et seq. and § 27-20-1 et seq., with its 

principal place of business at 500 Exchange Street, Providence, Rhode Island 02903.  

BCBSRI is in the business of purchasing health care services, including hospital services, 

and providing health insurance for its members and members of affiliated health plans in 

its service area, which includes Rhode Island and parts of Massachusetts bordering 

Rhode Island. 

9. Non-party co-conspirator Lifespan Corporation is a Rhode Island non-

profit corporation organized under the laws of Rhode Island with its principal place of 

business at 167 Point Street, Suite 2B Providence, Rhode Island 02903.  Lifespan is the 

parent of about forty-two other corporate entities.  Lifespan’s hospitals include Rhode 

Island Hospital, Hasbro Children’s Hospital, Miriam Hospital, Bradley Hospital, and 

Newport Hospital.  Lifespan is the dominant provider of hospital services in Rhode 

Island, and the dominant provider of hospital services to commercial insurance 

companies in Rhode Island. 
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10. Non-party co-conspirator Thundermist Health Center (“Thundermist”) is a 

community health center providing medical and dental health care in Woonsocket and 

two other Rhode Island communities.   

11. This Court has federal question jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 

and 1337(a) because Plaintiffs bring their claims under Section 4 of the Clayton Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 15, to recover treble damages and costs of suit, including reasonable attorneys’ 

fees, against BCBSRI for the injuries sustained by Plaintiffs by reason of the violation, as 

hereinafter alleged, of Sections 1 and 2 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1, 2. 

12. BCBSRI is engaged in interstate commerce and in activities substantially 

affecting interstate commerce, and the conduct alleged herein substantially affects 

interstate commerce.  BCBSRI provides commercial health insurance that covers Rhode 

Island residents when they travel outside of Rhode Island, and purchases health care in 

interstate commerce when Rhode Island residents require health care outside of Rhode 

Island. 

13. This Court also has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§1332 based on diversity of citizenship. 

14. The amount in controversy exceeds $75,000, exclusive of interest and 

costs.   

15. This Court also has supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ state law 

claims under 28 U.S.C. § 1367 because those claims are so related to the federal claims 

that they form part of the same case or controversy and involve a common nucleus of 

operative fact.  The exercise of supplemental jurisdiction avoids unnecessary duplication 
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and multiplicity of actions and is in the interests of judicial economy, convenience, and 

fairness.   

16. This Court has personal jurisdiction over BCBSRI because it is a Rhode 

Island corporation, has its principal place of business in Rhode Island, and has at all times 

relevant hereto systematically and continuously transacted substantial business in Rhode 

Island. 

17. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to Sections 4 and 12 of the 

Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 15 and 22, and 28 U.S.C. § 1391, because BCBSRI transacts 

business and resides in this District, and a substantial part of the events or omissions 

giving rise to the claims occurred in this District. 

Factual Background 

Steward’s Success in Reviving Community-Based Hospital Care and  
Offering Lower-Cost Health Insurance  

 
18. Steward owns and operates a health care system that includes community-

based hospitals and community-based physicians, with the goal of delivering value in the 

form of high quality care at an affordable cost.  Steward’s model is that of an accountable 

care organization, which involves a team-based approach to address care across the 

continuum from the home to the physician’s office, at the hospital and during post-acute 

care, with the goal of delivering most care in the local community.  By increasing care 

coordination among providers and delivering more health care locally, Steward is able to 

enhance quality and lower the cost of delivering health care services. 

19. Fundamental to Steward’s approach is the revitalization of community 

hospitals.  According to a study by Nancy M. Kane of the Harvard University School of 

Public Health, comparing the cost and quality of care at teaching hospitals versus 
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community hospitals across six states, per-case inpatient costs are 19% higher at teaching 

hospitals than at community hospitals, but the quality of care in the two types of hospitals 

is comparable.  These findings were confirmed in a recent report by the Rhode Island 

Office of the Health Insurance Commissioner, which found that “commercial insurers 

tend to pay higher rates to larger, most prestigious hospitals, with little obvious 

connection between payment rates and quality of care.”  Rhode Island Office of the 

Health Commissioner, “Variation in Payment for Hospital Care in Rhode Island” (“2012 

OHIC Report”), at 1.  To lower health care costs, Steward encourages the provision of 

high quality care at community hospitals, rather than the referral of patients to the higher-

cost academic medical centers for services that community hospitals are fully capable of 

providing.  

20. The benefits of Steward’s approach to health care have been demonstrated 

in Massachusetts, where Steward has acquired and revitalized a number of community 

hospitals that were in financial distress.  With substantial investments in technology and 

infrastructure (new operating rooms, new emergency rooms, etc.), Steward is 

transforming these community hospitals into high-quality, lower-cost alternatives to the 

more expensive academic medical centers in Boston.  Even in the short period of 

Steward’s ownership, the quality of medical care delivered at the Steward-owned 

community hospitals in Massachusetts has improved significantly.  Steward’s business 

model has been cited as a health-care model for the future, and Steward was chosen as 

one of 32 Pioneer Accountable Care Organizations nationwide by the federal Centers for 

Medicare and Medicaid Services.  There are no such Pioneer Accountable Care 
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Organizations currently in Rhode Island, and of the five such organizations in Boston, the 

four other than Steward are all affiliated with major academic medical centers.  

21. As part of Steward’s efforts to lower health care costs in the communities 

it serves in Massachusetts, Steward has begun partnering with Tufts Health Plan and 

Fallon Community Health Plan to offer limited network health insurance plans for small 

businesses.  By keeping as much care as possible within Steward’s lower-cost, 

community-based network, Steward and its partners can offer health insurance at 

significant savings to consumers.  The lower cost health insurance plans that Steward 

offers through its partnerships with insurance companies have been praised in press 

reports that reach residents and businesses in Rhode Island and elsewhere.  

Steward Bids to Acquire and Save the Financially Distressed  
Landmark Medical Center 

 
22. Landmark Medical Center (“Landmark”) is a 214-bed, general acute care 

community hospital located in Woonsocket, Rhode Island.  It provides residents of the 

Northern Rhode Island community with emergency, diagnostic, medical, surgical, cancer, 

cardiac, pain management, and obstetric care.  It is also the area’s second largest 

employer. 

23. Because of its troubled financial condition, Landmark was, starting in 

2008, operated by a Special Master appointed by the Providence County Superior Court.  

The Special Master has sought to find a strategic partner capable of ensuring the long-

term viability of Landmark, which he has characterized as “an important health care 

resource in Northern Rhode Island,” and yet “one of the most disadvantaged hospitals in 

the state.”  In 2010, the Rhode Island General Assembly designated Landmark as a 

distressed essential community hospital.  See R.I. Gen. Laws § 23-17.25-1(5) (2010).  In 
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so doing, the General Assembly expressly found that “[b]ecause of the important medical 

services provided by [Landmark], restoring and ensuring the continued financial viability 

of [such] distressed essential community [hospital was] necessary for the public health 

and safety.”  R.I. Gen. Laws § 23-17.25-1(4) (2010).   

24. BCBSRI, which has accounted for a significant share of the commercial 

insurance payments to Landmark annually, was in substantial part responsible for the 

financial difficulties that forced Landmark into special mastership proceedings.  On 

March 21, 2011, the Special Master overseeing Landmark sued BCBSRI over its 

inadequate past reimbursements to Landmark, alleging that, “[s]ince 2001, Blue Cross 

reimbursement rates paid to Landmark have simply been inadequate to keep pace with 

Landmark’s cost of doing business,” and that in recent years BCBSRI has paid millions 

of dollars less per year than the cost of providing care to BCBSRI subscribers.  In the 

words of the Special Master, “Blue Cross’[s] inadequate payments to Landmark 

contributed significantly to Landmark’s insolvency in 2008,” and made more difficult 

both the operation of the hospital and the task of finding a purchaser that could preserve 

Landmark as an essential community hospital. 

25. The Special Master’s suit was not the first indication that the 

reimbursement rates Landmark received from insurers such as Blue Cross were seriously 

deficient.  In January 2010, the Rhode Island Office of the Health Insurance 

Commissioner issued a report entitled “Variations in Hospital Payment Rates by 

Commercial Insurers in Rhode Island” (the “2010 OHIC Report”).  The report focused 

not only on Rhode Island’s community hospitals, but also on hospitals belonging to the 

two large hospital systems in Rhode Island—Lifespan and the Care New England Health 
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System.  Lifespan and Care New England together own and operate six of Rhode Island’s 

eleven acute care hospitals.  The 2010 OHIC Report analyzed average hospital inpatient 

payments from the two major health plans in Rhode Island, BCBSRI and United 

Healthcare, to all of those hospitals.  The report concluded that there are “wide variations 

in payments to hospitals on a case mix-adjusted basis” and that, “[a]s a result, hospitals 

affiliated with [the Lifespan and Care New England] systems  are paid more for similar 

services than un-affiliated hospitals,” such as Landmark.  Id. at 4.  According to the 

report, in 2008, Landmark was paid only “78% of the case mix adjusted inpatient 

medical/surgical payments, indexed to average payment per inpatient stay.”  Id. at 15. 

26. On February 14, 2011, since the Special Master’s efforts to find a partner 

to acquire Landmark had not yet been successful, the Court entered an order outlining a 

process whereby those interested in purchasing the assets and business of Landmark 

could submit formal bids.  When none of those bids produced an acceptable buyer, in late 

May of 2011, Steward submitted its own proposal for the acquisition of Landmark and its 

subsidiary, the Rehabilitation Hospital of Rhode Island (“RHRI”), and the Special Master 

recommended that Steward’s bid be accepted.   

27. BCBSRI filed an objection to Steward’s proposed acquisition, citing, 

among other things, the fact that Steward had not approached BCBSRI about a new 

contract for Landmark, and a failed effort by Caritas Christi Health Care, a predecessor of 

Steward’s, to acquire Landmark in 2010.  On June 8, 2011, the Court entered an Order 

authorizing the Special Master to execute the proposed Asset Purchase Agreement 

(“APA”), pursuant to which Steward would acquire Landmark and RHRI.   
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28. Steward’s plan for Landmark involved spending thirty million dollars on 

capital improvements and another $4.5 million dollars on physician recruitment and 

development to ensure that Landmark could provide top-quality care—equivalent or even 

superior to that provided by the more-costly academic medical centers in Rhode Island.  

Steward aimed to develop in Rhode Island the same type of health care network it had 

successfully started in Massachusetts and to partner with insurance companies as it had in 

Massachusetts to offer lower-cost, limited network insurance plans.  Steward knew that 

its proposed investments were critical to the revitalization of Landmark, and to the 

delivery of lower-cost, high quality health care in Rhode Island.  To sustain Landmark 

while Steward was attempting to finalize its acquisition, Steward provided, among other 

things, a $5 million line of credit to help cover Landmark’s operating needs until the 

transaction could close. 

BCBSRI and Its Co-Conspirators Block Steward’s Acquisition of Landmark 
 and Entry into Rhode Island 

 
29. Once the APA had been executed, Steward turned its attention to 

negotiating agreements with a number of third parties, including BCBSRI and the 

Thundermist Health Center, a large primary care provider in Woonsocket, who were 

important to the financial future of Landmark.  Given BCBSRI’s position as the dominant 

commercial health insurance provider in Rhode Island, a contract with BCBSRI with 

reasonable reimbursement rates was an essential step in returning Landmark to 

profitability and supporting the investments Landmark would need to provide high-

quality, cost-effective, community-based care.    

30. Steward and BCBSRI exchanged reimbursement rate proposals and 

counter-proposals in September and October of 2011.  Steward believed that there were 
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clear economic benefits to BCBSRI from a revitalized Landmark, operated by a company 

with the ability to lower costs through a community-based approach to health care.  With 

Landmark starved for capital and unable to modernize adequately, patients in the 

Woonsocket community had increasingly traveled to the more-expensive hospitals 

associated with medical schools in Providence, including hospitals owned by the 

Lifespan and Care New England systems.  With a revitalized Landmark, treating patients 

from the Woonsocket community at these more costly medical centers would be 

significantly reduced, and the residents of the Woonsocket community would receive 

more cost-effective hospital care closer to home at Landmark.  Reducing the unnecessary 

use of these more costly medical facilities would be good for Rhode Island patients, good 

for lowering the cost of medical care and good for health insurers interested in reducing 

the costs of insurance for their subscribers.   

31. On October 14, 2011, Steward filed the formal application required by the 

Rhode Island Hospital Conversion Act for permission to acquire Landmark and RHRI.  

That application identified several key components to the success of Steward’s plans for 

Landmark and RHRI, including:  (1) the establishment of a productive relationship with 

Thundermist Health Center, (2) the negotiation of adequate reimbursement rates with 

commercial insurers, and (3) the acquisition of full control of the Southern New England 

Regional Cancer Center, a joint venture between Landmark and Radiation Therapy 

Services of which Landmark then owned 38%.  

32. Although Steward’s acquisition of Landmark would have had significant 

pro-competitive benefits for Rhode Island health care markets and Rhode Island 

consumers, BCBSRI viewed Steward as a competitive threat to BCBSRI’s dominant 
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market positions.  BCBSRI was concerned, among other things, that if Steward could 

acquire Landmark and even two more Rhode Island hospitals, it would be able to partner 

with health insurers to offer less expensive commercial health insurance coverage in 

competition with BCBSRI to nearly three-quarters of Rhode Island’s population.  

33. BCBSRI knew that there were others in Rhode Island that might be 

willing to work with BCBSRI to block Steward’s plan to acquire and revitalize 

Landmark.  BCBSRI was aware, for example, that Thundermist and Lifespan had 

presented to the Special Master in 2009 a plan whereby Lifespan would acquire 

Landmark and keep its emergency room open, but substantially pare back Landmark’s 

other acute care services, send its outpatients to Thundermist and its patients who needed 

inpatient care to Rhode Island Hospital or some other Lifespan facility (the so-called 

“treat and transfer model”).  Lifespan and Thundermist knew that as long as the Special 

Master believed he could find a buyer, such as Steward, who planned to preserve a “full-

service” Landmark, there was virtually no chance the Special Master would accept 

Lifespan’s and Thundermist’s reduced-service, treat and transfer model for Landmark. 

34. BCBSRI was also aware that Lifespan considered a Steward-owned 

Landmark a direct competitor for patients.  From its contract negotiations with Lifespan, 

BCBSRI understood that Lifespan might be willing to consider smaller increases in 

reimbursement rates in exchange for initiatives by BCBSRI that would increase the 

volume of patients at Lifespan’s hospitals.  Steward’s plan to revitalize Landmark and 

slow or stop the outflow of its patients to the more expensive hospitals in Rhode Island 

would, if successful, reduce the usage of Lifespan hospitals.  If more community 

hospitals received the rate increases and investment dollars that enabled them to 
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modernize and upgrade their services, the threat to Lifespan’s patient share would be 

even greater.  On the other hand, if BCBSRI declined to reach a new contract for 

Landmark, BCBSRI knew that would likely cause Landmark to fail and shift many of 

Landmark’s patients to Lifespan hospitals.   

35. Thundermist’s perspective on Steward’s acquisition was complicated by 

the historically close ties of its patient base to Landmark.  Many of Thundermist’s 

patients placed significant value on the availability of treatment at a well-functioning 

local Landmark, but Thundermist nonetheless saw benefits to thwarting Steward’s 

acquisition of the hospital.  Stopping Steward could, most importantly, (1) revive the 

“treat and transfer” plan for Landmark that Thundermist had earlier proposed with 

Lifespan, (2) maintain good relationships with the dominant participants in Rhode Island 

health care markets, BCBSRI and Lifespan, both of whom Thundermist knew opposed 

Steward’s entry, and (3) avoid the competitive threat posed by Steward’s potential to 

develop alliances with local primary care providers other than Thundermist.    

36. BCBSRI could have through unilateral actions excluded Steward from 

Rhode Island markets, but BCBSRI recognized that its prospects for successfully and 

quickly blocking Steward’s entry and avoiding the adverse consequences of being 

publicly viewed as responsible for Steward’s withdrawal and Landmark’s subsequent 

failure would increase if BCBSRI worked jointly with Thundermist and Lifespan to keep 

Steward out of Rhode Island.  Lifespan and Thundermist likewise wanted to increase 

their chances of successfully preventing Steward’s entry and not suffering the adverse 

consequences of being publicly perceived as responsible for Landmark’s failure.   
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37. Lifespan knew that Steward wanted to enter Rhode Island both as a 

provider of hospital services to insurance plans and consumers, and also, in partnership 

with insurers, as a competitor of BCBSRI in the sale of commercial health insurance.  

Whatever benefit there might be to Lifespan from the increased competition for BCBSRI 

from additional insurers purchasing hospital services, Lifespan preferred to block 

Steward’s entry into Rhode Island because of Steward’s potential impact on Lifespan as a 

competing provider of hospital services.  To achieve the unlawful objectives of 

preserving BCBSRI’s monopoly and monopsony power and excluding competition, 

BCBSRI, Lifespan and Thundermist agreed to work together to block Steward’s entry 

into the Rhode Island hospital services and commercial health insurance markets.  

Lifespan and Thundermist thus intended to aid BCBSRI in maintaining its monopoly on 

the sale of commercial health insurance in Rhode Island because doing so would further 

their own efforts to limit competition from Steward.   

38. When Steward began negotiating with Thundermist about the future 

relationship between Thundermist and Landmark, Steward had every reason to believe 

those negotiations would be successful.  Landmark was the hospital in closest proximity 

to more Thundermist patients than any other hospital, and many Thundermist patients 

had long valued the convenience of and the service they received at Landmark.  

Thundermist already had a more substantial partnership with Landmark, including IT 

integration and cooperation and funding of Thundermist’s obstetrics and pediatric care, 

than it had with any other Rhode Island hospital.  The influx of capital and technology 

that Steward planned when it acquired Landmark would only improve the service 

Landmark offered to Thundermist patients.   
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39. BCBSRI was aware of the discussions between Thundermist and Steward, 

and urged Thundermist to walk away from these negotiations and let Landmark fail.  For 

its part, while negotiating with Steward, Thundermist resumed discussions about an 

agreement whereby its obstetrics patients would receive care at Women & Infants 

Hospital rather than Landmark.  Recognizing the importance of these patients to 

Landmark’s success, Thundermist viewed this step as likely to end Steward’s efforts to 

acquire Landmark and as Thundermist’s best means of eliminating the threat posed by 

Steward’s entry into Rhode Island.  But before it would enter into an agreement with 

Women & Infants, Thundermist sought and received commitments of support and 

assistance from BCBSRI and Lifespan, including among other things a joint 

communications plan to defuse any public criticism of Thundermist, and a letter of intent 

specifying how Lifespan and Thundermist would collaborate to implement their treat and 

transfer model at Landmark when the hospital failed.  Lifespan also committed to pay 

$150,000 annually to Thundermist, in part to cover the amount Thundermist had 

previously received from Landmark as support for Thundermist’s obstetric and pediatric 

services.  Lifespan agreed to make these payments notwithstanding that Women & 

Infants was part of the Care New England network, a competitor of Lifespan. 

40. Per its agreement with BCBSRI and Lifespan, Thundermist told state 

officials about its planned deal with Women & Infants, reassuring them that Landmark 

would not be shut down even if Steward did not go through with its acquisition, because 

Lifespan and Thundermist were prepared to step in and implement their treat and transfer 

model.  Thundermist also sought to assure state officials that its Women & Infants deal 

had nothing to do with the fact that Thundermist’s former CEO, now working as a paid 
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business strategy consultant for BCBSRI, was also serving as a consultant to 

Thundermist.  Thundermist publicly announced its new arrangement with Women & 

Infants on Friday, December 9, 2011, effective the following Monday.  

41. Notwithstanding its significant effect on Landmark’s patient volume and 

finances, Thundermist’s deal with Women & Infants did not end Steward’s effort to 

acquire Landmark.  On January 17, 2012, Steward’s application under the Hospital 

Conversion Act to acquire Landmark and RHRI was deemed complete.  On January 26, 

2012, Steward also filed its initial Change in Effective Control Application, as required 

under Rhode Island law, for any proposed change to the owner or operator of a licensed 

health care facility.  

42. Within two weeks, a bill had been proposed in both houses of the Rhode 

Island legislature to amend the Hospital Conversion Act to eliminate a provision that 

barred any owner of a for-profit hospital from converting more than one Rhode Island 

hospital to for-profit status in any three year period—a limitation which would effectively 

preclude any effort by Steward to timely develop a network of Rhode Island hospitals and 

establish its community-based health care model in Rhode Island. 

43. In furtherance of its individual and concerted efforts to block Steward’s 

entry, BCBSRI engaged in an intensive lobbying campaign to prevent the passage of the 

amendment.  At a February 7, 2012 hearing before the Rhode Island House Corporations 

Committee, BCBSRI representative Monica Neronha testified that if the Act were 

changed to permit such conversions, any new multi-hospital network—and the network 

that Steward aimed to establish was the only one then being discussed in Rhode Island—

should not be allowed to negotiate collectively with commercial health insurance 
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providers on behalf of its entire group of hospitals.  If BCBSRI’s proposal were adopted, 

any network that a for-profit entity such as Steward might form could not, for purposes of 

bargaining with BCBSRI, function like a network at all.  BCBSRI suggested no similar 

limitation for the existing Lifespan or Care New England hospital networks. 

44. BCBSRI’s proposal to require community hospitals that Steward might 

acquire to negotiate individually, and not as a network, would enable BCBSRI to 

continue to exercise its monopsony power in the commercial purchase of hospital 

services in Rhode Island by paying unreasonably low reimbursement rates to the 

community hospitals—low rates the Special Master had identified as a major contributor 

to Landmark’s insolvency.   

45. In March of 2012, the APA was formally amended to add an expanded 

definition of a Material Adverse Effect on Landmark (the occurrence of which could 

allow a termination of the contract) and to enumerate certain conditions precedent to 

Steward’s obligation to move forward with the acquisition, including Steward’s signing 

of an acceptable Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) with Thundermist Health 

Center, and a definitive agreement for Landmark to buy the remaining interest in the 

Southern New England Regional Cancer Center.  

46. During the spring of 2012, Steward met with Thundermist in an effort to 

reach a memorandum of understanding, as contemplated by the amended APA, that 

might help a Steward-owned Landmark succeed.  BCBSRI was concerned that the APA 

amendment might make Thundermist feel pressured to reach some agreement with 

Steward.  To ensure that Thundermist remained committed to the conspiracy to exclude 

Steward, BCBSRI communicated to Thundermist why it should be cautious in making 
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any agreement with Steward.  BCBSRI made sure that Thundermist understood the 

negative impact a deal with Steward would have on Thundermist’s prospects of being 

included by BCBSRI in future, innovative health care programs in which primary care 

providers would play a pivotal role.  On or about May 11, 2012, Thundermist rejected 

Steward’s proposals for an MOU with Landmark, explaining that any such arrangement 

with Steward could unduly limit its ability to participate in future deals that might be 

offered by other entities, such as BCBSRI, which had already established a dominant 

market presence in Rhode Island.  

47. Throughout the period of Steward’s efforts to complete the acquisition of 

Landmark, BCBSRI, Lifespan and Thundermist communicated to coordinate their efforts 

to prevent Steward from succeeding.  BCBSRI assured Thundermist that it had no 

intention of moderating its position in its stalled contract negotiations with Steward and 

that it believed Steward’s efforts to acquire Landmark would fail.  BCBSRI also began 

negotiations with Thundermist to make Thundermist a preferred Primary Care Provider 

in its network, and to provide services to help Thundermist operate in markets it had not 

previously served.  For its part, Lifespan assured BCBSRI and Thundermist that it was 

committed to stepping in and taking over Landmark after Landmark failed, and thereafter 

working with Thundermist to implement its treat and transfer model for a reduced-

services version of Landmark.  When a statement in regulatory filing by Steward 

suggested that Steward was making progress in its negotiations with Thundermist, 

Thundermist sought to reassure its BCBSRI and Lifespan, among others, that any such 

suggestion was not accurate.  
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48. On May 22, 2012 and May 25, 2012, respectively, the Rhode Island 

Department of Health and the State Attorney General approved Steward’s application 

under the Hospital Conversion Act to acquire Landmark and RHRI.  On May 22, 2012, 

the Department of Health also accepted the recommendation of its Health Services 

Council that Steward’s Change in Effective Control application be approved. 

49. On May 16, 2012, just prior to those approvals, and without providing 

notice to Landmark or Steward, BCBSRI filed a formal application with the Rhode Island 

Department of Health to make a “material plan modification” to its insurance plan 

whereby it would remove Landmark from its provider network.  As events later in the 

summer of 2012 would make clear, that application was the first step in BCBSRI’s effort 

to further destabilize Landmark’s already difficult financial condition.  

50. Despite the fact that BCBSRI had no intention of agreeing to reasonable, 

competitive terms with Steward, the negotiations between Steward and BCBSRI for a 

possible contract for Landmark continued.  BCBSRI claimed that, despite public reports 

such as the one by the Rhode Island Office of the Health Insurance Commissioner, 

Landmark had not been disadvantaged on reimbursement rates.  Although BCBSRI’s 

claim was untrue, in response, on May 22, 2012, Steward offered to accept 

reimbursement rates for inpatient and outpatient care that were just 95% of BCBSRI’s 

statewide average rates—that is, 5% less than BCBSRI’s statewide average rates for all 

hospitals (including other community hospitals) and substantially less than the rates 

OHIC reported that BCBSRI paid to the Care New England and Lifespan hospitals.  In 

late June of 2012, more than a month after Steward had made its last proposal, and after a 
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further exchange of information, BCBSRI responded by stating that it was not prepared 

to increase an offer it had made over three months earlier to Landmark.  

51. Consistent with its efforts and commitment to block Steward’s entry,  

BCBSRI’s proposals to Steward throughout the spring and summer of 2012 contained 

base reimbursement rate increases that left Landmark substantially below the statewide 

average reimbursement rate, did not adequately compensate Landmark for the cost of 

providing service to BCBSRI subscribers, and tied a substantial portion of the rate 

increases it purportedly offered to quality measures that Steward representatives made 

clear to BCBSRI were unattainable at Landmark in the near term—that is, until the 

substantial investments Steward planned to make could improve the conditions at 

Landmark.  Several of BCBSRI’s proposals during this time period also required 

Steward, as a condition of any rate increase going forward, to have the Special Master 

dismiss with prejudice his lawsuit challenging BCBSRI’s historically low reimbursement 

rates to Landmark. 

52. Throughout these discussions, BCBSRI was well aware that BCBSRI’s 

reimbursement rates to community hospitals in Rhode Island generally, including 

Landmark, were substantially lower than its rates to Lifespan and Care New England 

hospitals, that these low rates had contributed to the financial distress of these community 

hospitals, and that Rhode Island’s community hospitals would all likely fail if their 

BCBSRI contracts were not renewed.  BCBSRI considered whether to let all of its 

contracts with these community hospitals lapse, but decided to renew all of these 

agreements except its contract with Landmark.  In deciding not to renew its contract with 

Landmark, BCBSRI realized that this decision could cost it millions of dollars per year, 
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since Landmark patients would be forced to seek more expensive care at Rhode Island 

Hospital or other Lifespan hospitals, and that the adverse financial impact on BCBSRI of 

not renewing its Landmark contract would in fact be greater than the cost of Steward’s 

proposed rate increases for Landmark.  BCBSRI nevertheless remained committed to 

blocking Steward’s acquisition and entry into Rhode Island. 

53. BCBSRI understood that any further decline in Landmark’s already 

problematic financial condition would deter and likely prevent Steward’s acquisition of 

the hospital and thereby block its entry into the markets for hospital services and 

commercial health insurance in Rhode Island.  Beginning on or about July 11, 2012, 

although the Department of Health had not yet completed its review of BCBSRI’s earlier, 

material plan modification request, BCBSRI began sending letters to its subscribers and  

doctors informing them (1) that the contracts between BCBSRI and Landmark and RHRI 

were ending on July 16, 2012, and August 31, 2012, respectively, (2) that BCBSRI felt 

there was little chance that new agreements would be reached, and (3) that Landmark and 

RHRI would be considered “out of network” for BCBSRI subscribers on August 1 and 

September 1, respectively.  To BCBSRI subscribers who utilized Landmark and RHRI 

and doctors who referred BCBSRI subscribers to Landmark and RHRI, this was an 

obvious signal to seek services elsewhere.  Moreover, once the contracts expired, even 

though Landmark remained “in network” because BCBSRI’s material change application 

had not yet been approved, BCBSRI unilaterally ceased making payments to Landmark 

for services its subscribers received there, and instead began to reimburse its subscribers 

directly.  This left Landmark without direct reimbursement from the state’s dominant 

insurance provider, and with only the uncertain prospect of collecting from the patients 
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themselves.  For those government health plans (Medicare) for which BCBSRI provided 

claims administration services, BCBSRI’s pace of payment to Landmark also 

dramatically slowed. 

54. BCBSRI’s actions predictably caused a sharp decrease in patient volume 

and cash receipts at Landmark and RHRI.  In the words of the Special Master, BCBSRI’s 

actions in this regard caused cash receipts at Landmark and RHRI to “decline[] 

precipitously,” and put Landmark and RHRI into even more severe financial distress.  

Creating that uncertainty for its subscribers and adversely affecting the financial 

condition of Landmark at that time served BCBSRI’s and its co-conspirators’ purpose of 

keeping Steward from closing on the acquisition and entering the Rhode Island markets 

for hospital services and health insurance. 

55. In September 2012, as the loss in patient volume at Landmark caused by 

BCBSRI’s actions further compromised the hospital’s already strained financial position, 

the Special Master sought Court permission to drop its lawsuit against BCBSRI in 

exchange for BCBSRI agreeing to resume its normal process of making direct payments 

to Landmark for services provided there to BCBSRI subscribers and to extend 

Landmark’s contract to December 31, 2012, or three months after its acquisition.  The 

Special Master told the Court that he “believe[d] the very survival of Landmark and 

RHRI [was] at stake and that he had no alternative but to execute the MOU 

[Memorandum of Understanding] on the conditions imposed by Blue Cross . . . .”  The 

Special Master described his actions in accepting this agreement as “a full and absolute 

capitulation” to the demands of BCBSRI. 
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56. After further efforts by Steward to negotiate a workable deal with 

BCBSRI, including participating in court-ordered mediation, failed, Steward announced 

on September 27, 2012 that it was terminating its effort to acquire Landmark.  

57. BCBSRI never had any intention of entering into a contract with Steward 

for reasonable and competitive reimbursement rates at Landmark that would allow 

Steward to acquire Landmark and bring more competition to Rhode Island health care 

markets.  Rather, BCBSRI (a) intentionally inserted unreasonable demands and 

conditions in its offers, notwithstanding its calculation that the expected cost to BCBSRI 

if Landmark failed exceeded the cost of Steward’s contract proposals; (b) disrupted the 

operations of Landmark at a critical time with its undisclosed material modification 

application, its letters to subscribers and providers, and its unilateral decision to make 

payments to its subscribers and not to Landmark, even while Landmark was still “in 

network”; and (c) pressured Thundermist and conspired with Lifespan and Thundermist 

to agree to work together to block Steward’s entry into Rhode Island—all in an effort to 

ensure that Steward would not move forward with its acquisition of Landmark and 

thereby bring competition to the hospital services and commercial health insurance 

markets in Rhode Island.  By engaging in the conduct described herein, BCBSRI, acting 

on its own and in concert with Lifespan and Thundermist, intended to and did in fact 

cause Steward’s attempted acquisition of Landmark and RHRI to fail, and thereby 

excluded Steward from entering the market for the provision of hospital services and the 

sale of commercial health insurance in Rhode Island.  

58. After Steward announced that it was terminating its efforts to acquire 

Landmark, the Special Master announced a new Asset Purchase Agreement with Prime 
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Healthcare Services, a for-profit hospital system headquartered in California.  Although 

Prime was not perceived as the same type of competitive threat to BCBSRI or Lifespan 

as Steward had been, the efforts by BCBSRI, Lifespan and Thundermist to undermine 

Prime’s efforts to revitalize Landmark have continued, even after Prime’s acquisition, so 

that, among other things, they could reap the full benefits of their successful collaboration 

to block Steward’s entry. 

BCBSRI’s Exclusionary Conduct Directed at Steward’s Massachusetts Hospitals  
that Serve Rhode Island Residents 

 
59. In or about May 25, 2012, just after filing its application to remove 

Landmark from its network in Rhode Island, BCBSRI notified Steward that it would not 

renew its contracts with St. Anne’s Hospital.  St. Anne’s is a Steward-owned hospital, 

which is located on the border between Massachusetts and Rhode Island, and which has 

historically contracted with BCBSRI for services to a number of BCBSRI subscribers 

who live in Rhode Island.   

60. Instead of contracting directly with St. Anne’s, BCBSRI informed its 

Rhode Island subscribers that they could utilize the “BlueCard program” when receiving 

services at St. Anne’s.  The BlueCard Program is a national program whereby Blue Cross 

& Blue Shield plans in various states allow subscribers of one plan (the “home plan”) to 

access benefits and rates negotiated by another plan while traveling or living outside of 

their home plan’s service area.   

61. By directing its subscribers to utilize the BlueCard Program at St. Anne’s, 

BCBSRI paid for St. Anne’s hospital services at the rates negotiated by Blue Cross Blue 

Shield of Massachusetts (“BCBSMA”), plus a fee required by the BlueCard Program.   
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62. In an effort to reach a deal with BCBSRI for St. Anne’s, Steward offered a 

new contract for St. Anne’s at reimbursement rates that were equivalent to BCBSMA’s 

rates, thereby saving BCBSRI the fees it was paying to use the BlueCard Program.  

Despite the obvious economic advantages of this proposal to BCBSRI and the benefits to 

BCBSRI subscribers, BCBSRI rejected Steward’s offer and chose to continue paying a 

fee it did not have to pay.   

63. On information and belief, in an effort to discourage doctors from 

referring patients to St. Anne’s and to further adversely affect Steward’s business, 

BCBSRI began falsely telling doctors who practice at St. Anne’s that St. Anne’s has 

unnecessarily high commercial reimbursement rates.  This predictably led some doctors 

to be concerned that, if they refer patients to St. Anne’s, they will not be eligible to 

receive certain shared savings that BCBSRI pays to doctors who utilize less costly 

facilities.  BCBSRI has also terminated its Medicare Advantage contract with St. Anne’s, 

thereby disrupting another source of patients both for St. Anne’s and its doctors.   

64. BCBSRI tried to justify its refusal to enter into a contract with St. Anne’s 

by falsely claiming that St. Anne’s owed it more than $10 million in alleged past 

overpayments, despite the records in St. Anne’s billing office that show those allegations 

to be false.   

65. BCBSRI’s decision to forgo a more economically advantageous business 

opportunity instead of contracting with Steward and its multiple efforts to discourage 

subscribers and doctors from using St. Anne’s demonstrate BCBSRI’s anticompetitive 

intent to maintain its monopoly and monopsony power, whether by unilateral conduct or 

by conspiracy with others, by BCBSRI’s interfering with Steward’s efforts to create an 
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efficient network of hospitals to serve Rhode Island residents and to partner with others 

in providing lower cost health insurance, and constitute additional acts in furtherance of 

its conspiracy with Lifespan and Thundermist to block Steward’s entry into Rhode 

Island. 

BCBSRI Unlawfully Maintained its Dominant Position 
in the Relevant Markets 

 
66. The relevant product markets at issue in this case are (1) the market for the 

sale of commercial health insurance, and (2) the market for the commercial purchase of 

hospital services.  Both relevant product markets exclude government programs, such as 

Medicare and Medicaid, and other related products offered in part through commercial 

health insurers such as Medicare Advantage.  For most individuals who do not qualify for 

government programs such as Medicare or Medicaid, there are no reasonable alternatives 

to commercial health insurance for the purchase of hospital services because paying for 

such services themselves, rather than through a commercial insurance provider, is 

prohibitively expensive.  Commercial health insurers negotiate the terms under which 

their subscribers will access and ultimately consume the services provided by hospitals 

and other health care providers.  Similarly, for those selling hospital services, there are 

virtually no alternative commercial buyers of those services other than commercial 

insurance companies and their subscribers. 

67. The relevant geographic market is the State of Rhode Island.  The acute 

care hospitals in Rhode Island (the providers of hospital services) overwhelmingly serve 

Rhode Island residents, and the primary commercial purchasers of their services are the 

commercial insurance companies (such as BCBSRI, United, and Tufts) that purchase 

hospital services on behalf of their Rhode Island-based subscribers.  In a December 2012 
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report, the Commissioner concluded that “[t]he State of Rhode Island is the obvious 

[geographic market] definition, used in the past and supported by the Dartmouth Atlas of 

Health Care definition of the Providence hospital referral region as almost entirely 

contiguous with state lines.”  2012 OHIC Report at 42.  According to the 2012 OHIC 

Report, over 90% of commercial hospital stays by Rhode Island residents occur in Rhode 

Island hospitals.  Id.   

68. The health insurance companies that operate in Rhode Island treat Rhode 

Island as a relevant geographic market.  BCBSRI—whose health insurance policies cover 

more than 70% of the commercially insured population of Rhode Island—is distinct from 

the Blue Cross Blue Shield organizations in other states, such as Massachusetts.  On 

information and belief, substantially all of BCBSRI’s subscribers are Rhode Island 

residents.   

69. Consumers strongly prefer health insurance plans that provide access to 

hospitals and physicians close to their homes and workplaces.  Rhode Island residents 

cannot practicably turn to commercial health insurers in other states that do not offer 

access to hospitals and physicians in Rhode Island, and that are not licensed to sell 

insurance in Rhode Island.  The providers of hospital services in Rhode Island cannot 

attract significant numbers of patients from outside of Rhode Island because of patients’ 

strong preference for treatment near their homes and workplaces. 

70. BCBSRI has market power and monopoly power in the market for the sale 

of commercial health insurance, and has market power and monopsony power (that is, 

monopoly power as a buyer, rather than a seller) in the market for the commercial 

purchase of hospital services in Rhode Island.  BCBSRI is the dominant seller of 
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commercial health insurance in Rhode Island, and the dominant commercial purchaser of 

hospital services in Rhode Island.  BCBSRI’s share of both relevant markets has 

exceeded 70% for years, and entry into the market for the sale of commercial health 

insurance and the market for the commercial purchase of hospital services is difficult, 

expensive and time-consuming.   

71. Further evidence of BCBSRI’s market power and monopsony power in the 

market for the commercial purchase of hospital services is its ability to price 

discriminate.  As documented in the 2010 OHIC Report, BCBSRI pays different hospitals 

different amounts for substantially the same services of the same quality.  The Office of 

the Health Insurance Commissioner concluded that “the most likely reason for 

differentials in commercial insurers’ payments comes down to the balance of negotiating 

strength between the parties.”  2010 OHIC Report, at 24.  In the more recent 2012 OHIC 

Report, the Office of the Health Insurance Commissioner found that “[w]ithin the 

commercial market, the highest-paid hospitals received twice as much per stay as the 

lowest-paid hospital.” 2012 OHIC Report at 4.  And, once again, it concluded that 

“variation in payment levels appears to be significantly influenced by negotiating 

leverage.”  Id. at 5.   

72. Steward’s purchase of Landmark and creation of a Rhode Island-based 

network of providers would have limited BCBSRI’s ability to exercise its monopsony 

power in the commercial purchase of hospital services.  As reflected in the 2010 OHIC 

Report and in the 2012 OHIC Report, this absence of negotiating leverage by Rhode 

Island’s disaggregated community hospitals has allowed BCBSRI to pay substantially 

reduced reimbursement rates to those community hospitals, for substantially the same 
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service with substantially the same quality of care, compared to the rates paid to hospitals 

that are part of the Lifespan and Care New England hospital systems.  BCBSRI 

understood that if Steward acquired Landmark and created a network of community 

hospitals as part of its model of delivering community-based health care, Steward would 

undermine BCBSRI’s practice of imposing less than competitive reimbursement rates on 

Rhode Island’s community hospitals. 

73. Steward’s purchase of Landmark and creation of a Rhode Island-based 

provider network also threatened BCBSRI’s monopoly power in the sale of commercial 

health insurance in Rhode Island.  Just as it had in Massachusetts, Steward’s plan in 

Rhode Island involved partnering with insurance companies to offer lower-cost limited 

network insurance products in the communities that it serves.  BCBSRI was aware of 

Steward’s plan to compete in the market for the sale of commercial health insurance in 

Rhode Island by partnering with insurers to offer lower-cost limited provider network 

products that would create new—and, from BCBSRI’s perspective, unwanted—price 

competition in the commercial health insurance market and reduce BCBSRI’s dominant, 

monopsony position as a commercial purchaser of hospital services.  

74. To avoid these threats to its monopoly and monopsony positions in the 

relevant markets, BCBSRI, through the unilateral conduct and the agreements alleged 

herein, sought to and did successfully prevent Steward’s acquisition of Landmark and 

thereby excluded Steward from the relevant markets.  In more competitive commercial 

health care insurance markets such as Massachusetts, insurance companies see the 

benefits of partnering with Steward by paying competitive reimbursement rates, agreeing 

to innovative forms of risk sharing and jointly offering lower-cost, limited network 
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insurance products, so that they can more effectively compete to provide the highest 

quality, lowest cost products for subscribers.  BCBSRI’s intent and ability to exclude 

Steward from the relevant markets are the hallmarks of its monopoly and monopsony 

power, and its unlawful agreements in restraint of trade. 

75. The anticompetitive acts by BCBSRI, on its own, and in concert with 

Lifespan and Thundermist, in furtherance of its monopolization and monopsonization, 

and its conspiracy with Lifespan and Thundermist to monopolize and to unreasonably 

restrain trade and commerce included, but were not limited to, (a) BCBSRI refusing to 

enter into a contract with Steward providing for reasonable reimbursement rates at 

Landmark, notwithstanding its knowledge that having Landmark without a contract was 

more costly for BCBSRI than the rates Steward sought, but for the benefit to BCBSRI of 

excluding Steward from the market; (b) BCBSRI taking steps to materially adversely 

affect the financial condition of Landmark prior to Steward’s completion of its proposed 

acquisition of the hospital, in order to deter Steward from closing on its acquisition; (c) 

BCBSRI pressuring Thundermist and agreeing with Lifespan and Thundermist to work 

together to block Steward’s entry into the Rhode Island hospital services and commercial 

health insurance markets by, among other things, BCBSRI and Lifespan providing 

benefits and promising future benefits to Thundermist on the condition that Thundermist 

not reach any agreement with Steward that would facilitate Steward’s completion of the 

acquisition of Landmark, and Thundermist in return refusing to reach any such 

agreement; (d) BCBSRI terminating its contracts with Steward at St. Anne’s and refusing 

to enter into contracts with Steward at St. Anne’s, despite Steward having offered to 

accept more economically favorable terms to BCBSRI than BCBSRI would otherwise 
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pay; (e) BCBSRI, alone and in concert with others, preventing Steward from acquiring 

and establishing an efficient network of community hospitals in and around Rhode 

Island; and (f) BCBSRI, alone and in concert with others, excluding Steward from the 

market for the sale of commercial health insurance in Rhode Island. 

76. The anticompetitive effects of BCBSRI’s exclusionary conduct to preserve 

its monopoly and monopsony power and the unlawful contracts, combination, and 

conspiracy between BCBSRI, Lifespan and Thundermist to monopolize and to 

unreasonably restrain trade and commerce included, but were not limited to, excluding 

Steward from competing in the relevant markets, forcing consumers who would prefer to 

obtain in-network hospital services from St. Anne’s and Landmark to purchase those 

services from Lifespan or other Rhode Island hospitals, limiting the competition Lifespan 

faces from community hospitals in Rhode Island, preventing new competition with 

BCBSRI from Steward in partnership with health insurers, preventing the introduction of 

lower cost commercial insurance products into Rhode Island, increasing the cost of health 

care and commercial health insurance in Rhode Island, preventing the revitalization of 

community hospitals in Rhode Island, and reducing the choices and other benefits to 

consumers and competition in the relevant markets. 

77. The conduct alleged in this complaint caused antitrust injury to Steward, 

specifically by, without limitation, preventing Steward from acquiring Landmark, from 

fulfilling its plans to form an efficient network of community hospitals in Rhode Island 

and from participating in the market for the sale of commercial health insurance in Rhode 

Island and as a purchaser in the market for the commercial purchase of hospital services 

by partnering with insurance companies to offer lower-cost limited provider network 
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products.  Rhode Island residents, as consumers of hospital services in Rhode Island and 

as purchasers of commercial health insurance in Rhode Island, have been deprived of the 

benefits of competition Steward would have provided in both relevant markets, including 

a revitalized, higher-quality and lower-cost network of community hospitals, and the 

associated lower-cost, more affordable services those hospitals would have provided, as 

well as more affordable health insurance products, which would in turn have given 

consumers greater access to lower-cost, higher quality hospital services. 

COUNT I 
(Violation of § 2 of the Sherman Act: Unlawful Monopolization 

 of the Market for Sale of Commercial Health Insurance) 
 

78. Steward incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 77 above, as if 

fully alleged herein. 

79. The relevant geographic market is Rhode Island. 

80. The relevant product market is the market for the sale of commercial 

health insurance.   

81. BCBSRI possesses monopoly power in the market for the sale of 

commercial health insurance in Rhode Island.  BCBSRI has abused and continues to 

abuse its monopoly power to maintain and enhance its market dominance as the largest 

provider of commercial health insurance in Rhode Island, with a market share in excess 

of 70%, including without limitation by preventing Steward from acquiring Landmark 

and RHRI, preventing Steward from acquiring and establishing an efficient network of 

community hospitals in and around Rhode Island, and thereby excluding Steward from 

the market for the sale of commercial health insurance by precluding it from providing, in 
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partnership with other insurance companies, lower-cost limited network insurance 

products to Rhode Island consumers.   

82. BCBSRI’s unlawful maintenance and abuse of its monopoly power 

includes, but is not limited to, the following conduct:  (a) BCBSRI refusing to enter into a 

contract with Steward providing for reasonable reimbursement rates at Landmark, 

notwithstanding its knowledge that having Landmark without a contract was more costly 

for BCBSRI than the rates Steward sought, but for the benefit to BCBSRI of excluding 

Steward from the market; (b) BCBSRI taking steps to materially adversely affect the 

financial condition of Landmark prior to Steward’s completion of its proposed 

acquisition of the hospital, in order to deter Steward from closing on its acquisition; (c) 

BCBSRI pressuring Thundermist and agreeing with Lifespan and Thundermist to work 

together to block Steward’s entry into the Rhode Island hospital services and commercial 

health insurance markets by, among other things, BCBSRI and Lifespan providing 

benefits and promising future benefits to Thundermist on the condition that Thundermist 

not reach any agreement with Steward that would facilitate Steward’s completion of the 

acquisition of Landmark, and Thundermist in return refusing to reach any such 

agreement; (d) BCBSRI terminating its contracts with Steward at St. Anne’s and refusing 

to enter into contracts with Steward at St. Anne’s, despite Steward having offered to 

accept more economically favorable terms to BCBSRI than BCBSRI would otherwise 

pay; (e) BCBSRI, alone and in concert with others, preventing Steward from acquiring 

and establishing an efficient network of community hospitals in and around Rhode 

Island; and (f) BCBSRI, alone and in concert with others, excluding Steward from the 

market for the sale of commercial health insurance in Rhode Island. 
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83. BCBSRI’s conduct constitutes the unlawful establishment, maintenance or 

use of a monopoly in the relevant market for the sale of commercial health insurance in 

violation of Section 2 of the Sherman Act. 

84. As a direct and proximate result of BCBSRI’s monopolization of the 

market for the sale of commercial health insurance in Rhode Island in violation of 

Section 2 of the Sherman Act, Steward has suffered injury to its business and property 

and damages in an amount to be proven at trial. 

COUNT II 
(Violation of § 2 of the Sherman Act: Attempt to Monopolize 

the Market for Sale of Commercial Health Insurance) 
 

85. Steward incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 77 above, as if 

fully alleged herein. 

86. The relevant geographic market is Rhode Island. 

87. The relevant product market is the market for the sale of commercial 

health insurance.   

88. BCBSRI has attempted, and continues to attempt, to acquire and possess 

monopoly power in the market for the sale of commercial health insurance in Rhode 

Island.  BCBSRI—the largest provider of commercial health insurance in Rhode Island, 

with a market share of over 70%—has acted with the specific intent to monopolize and 

has attempted to acquire and possess monopoly power, including without limitation by 

preventing Steward from acquiring Landmark and RHRI, preventing Steward from 

acquiring and establishing an efficient network of community hospitals in and around 

Rhode Island, and thereby excluding Steward from the market for the sale of commercial 

health insurance in which it would have participated by providing, in partnership with 
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other insurance companies, lower-cost limited network insurance products to Rhode 

Island consumers.   

89. BCBSRI’s attempt to monopolize includes, but is not limited to, the 

following conduct:  (a) BCBSRI refusing to enter into a contract with Steward providing 

for reasonable reimbursement rates at Landmark, notwithstanding its knowledge that 

having Landmark without a contract was more costly for BCBSRI than the rates Steward 

sought, but for the benefit to BCBSRI of excluding Steward from the market; (b) 

BCBSRI taking steps to materially adversely affect the financial condition of Landmark 

prior to Steward’s completion of its proposed acquisition of the hospital, in order to deter 

Steward from closing on its acquisition; (c) BCBSRI pressuring Thundermist and 

agreeing with Lifespan and Thundermist to work together to block Steward’s entry into 

the Rhode Island hospital services and commercial health insurance markets by, among 

other things, BCBSRI and Lifespan providing current benefits and promising future 

benefits to Thundermist on the condition that Thundermist not reach any agreement with 

Steward that would facilitate Steward’s completion of the acquisition of Landmark and 

entry into Rhode Island markets, and Thundermist refusing to reach any such agreement; 

(d) BCBSRI terminating its contracts with Steward at St. Anne’s and refusing to enter 

into a contract with Steward at St. Anne’s, despite Steward having offered to accept more 

economically favorable terms to BCBSRI than BCBSRI would otherwise pay; (e) 

BCBSRI, alone and in concert with others, preventing Steward from acquiring and 

establishing an efficient network of community hospitals in and around Rhode Island; 

and (f) BCBSRI, alone and in concert with others, excluding Steward from the market for 

the sale of commercial health insurance in Rhode Island. 
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90. BCBSRI’s scheme to monopolize the relevant market for the sale of 

commercial health insurance has had success in excluding and foreclosing competition, 

and there is, and has been at all times relevant hereto, a dangerous probability of success 

of BCBSRI monopolizing this market. 

91. BCBSRI’s conduct constitutes an unlawful attempt to establish a 

monopoly in the relevant market for the sale of commercial health insurance in violation 

of Section 2 of the Sherman Act. 

92. As a direct and proximate result of BCBSRI’s attempted monopolization 

of the market for the sale of commercial health insurance in Rhode Island in violation of 

Section 2 of the Sherman Act, Steward has suffered injury to its business and property 

and damages in an amount to be proven at trial. 

COUNT III 
(Violation of §2 of the Sherman Act: Unlawful Conspiracy to Monopolize  

the Market for Sale of Commercial Health Insurance) 
 

93. Steward incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 77 above, as if 

fully alleged herein.  

94. The relevant geographic market is Rhode Island. 

95. The relevant product market is the market for the sale of commercial 

health insurance. 

96. BCBSRI possesses or intends to possess monopoly power in the market 

for the sale of commercial health insurance in Rhode Island.  BCBSRI has abused and 

continues to abuse its monopoly power to maintain and enhance its market dominance as 

the largest provider of commercial health insurance in Rhode Island, with a market share 

in excess of 70%, including without limitation by preventing Steward from acquiring 
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Landmark and RHRI, preventing Steward from acquiring and establishing an efficient 

network of community hospitals in and around Rhode Island, and thereby excluding 

Steward from the market for the sale of commercial health insurance by precluding it 

from providing, in partnership with other insurance companies, lower-cost limited 

network insurance products to Rhode Island consumers. 

97. BCBSRI has combined and conspired with Lifespan and Thundermist to 

exclude Steward and other potential entrants in order to establish or maintain BCBSRI’s 

monopoly power in the relevant market for the sale of commercial health insurance in 

Rhode Island.  

98. BCBSRI, Lifespan, and Thundermist had the specific intent that BCBSRI 

would establish or maintain its monopoly power in the relevant market for the sale of 

commercial health insurance in Rhode Island, and they consciously committed 

themselves to a common scheme designed to achieve that unlawful objective. 

99. BCBSRI, Lifespan, and Thundermist performed overt acts in pursuit of 

their conspiracy to monopolize, including but not limited to (a) BCBSRI refusing to enter 

into a contract with Steward providing for reasonable reimbursement rates at Landmark, 

notwithstanding its knowledge that having Landmark without a contract was more costly 

for BCBSRI than the rates Steward sought, but for the benefit to BCBSRI of excluding 

Steward from the market; (b) BCBSRI taking steps to materially adversely affect the 

financial condition of Landmark prior to Steward’s completion of its proposed 

acquisition of the hospital, in order to deter Steward from closing on its acquisition; (c) 

BCBSRI pressuring Thundermist and agreeing with Lifespan and Thundermist to work 

together to block Steward’s entry into the Rhode Island hospital services and commercial 
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health insurance markets by, among other things, BCBSRI and Lifespan providing 

current benefits and promising future benefits to Thundermist on the condition that 

Thundermist not reach any agreement with Steward that would facilitate Steward’s 

completion of the acquisition of Landmark and entry into Rhode Island markets, and 

Thundermist refusing to reach any such agreement; (d) BCBSRI terminating its contracts 

with Steward at St. Anne’s and refusing to enter into a contract with Steward at St. 

Anne’s, despite Steward having offered to accept terms more economically favorable to 

BCBSRI than BCBSRI would otherwise pay; (e) BCBSRI, alone and in concert with 

Lifespan and Thundermist,  preventing Steward from acquiring and establishing an 

efficient network of community hospitals in and around Rhode Island; and (f) BCBSRI, 

alone and in concert with Lifespan and Thundermist, excluding Steward from the market 

for the sale of commercial health insurance in Rhode Island. 

100. The unlawful agreements by BCBSRI, Lifespan and Thundermist and 

overt acts in furtherance of those agreements with the specific intent that BCBSRI 

monopolize the market for the sale of commercial health insurance constitute an unlawful 

conspiracy to monopolize that market in violation of Section 2 of the Act. 

101. As a direct and proximate result of BCBSRI’s, Lifespan’s and 

Thundermist’s conspiracy to monopolize the market for the sale of commercial health 

insurance in Rhode Island in violation of Section 2 of the Sherman Act, Steward has 

suffered injury to its business and property and damages in an amount to be proven at 

trial. 

COUNT IV 
(Violation of §1 of the Sherman Act: Unlawful Contract, Combination and 

Conspiracy in Restraint of Trade in the Market for Sale of Commercial Health 
Insurance) 
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102. Steward incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 77 above, as if 

fully alleged herein.  

103. The relevant geographic market is Rhode Island. 

104. The relevant product market is the market for the sale of commercial 

health insurance. 

105. BCBSRI, Lifespan and Thundermist entered into a contract, combination, 

and conspiracy to restrain trade in the market for the sale of commercial health insurance 

in Rhode Island by, among other things, agreeing to work together to block Steward’s 

entry.  They had a conscious commitment to a common scheme designed to achieve 

unlawful objectives, including preventing Steward’s entry into the relevant market, alone 

or in cooperation with another health insurance business, preventing Steward from 

facilitating increased competition with BCBSRI by creating an efficient network of 

hospitals in Rhode Island that could ease the entry or expansion by other sellers of 

commercial health insurance, and the prevention of new risk-sharing arrangements 

between hospitals and sellers of commercial health insurance that would have introduced 

new products into the relevant market and increased competition in the relevant market 

for the sale of commercial health insurance.  

106. The contract, combination, and conspiracy between and among BCBSRI, 

Lifespan and Thundermist adversely affected competition and caused anticompetitive 

effects in the relevant market for the sale of commercial health insurance in Rhode 

Island, including by, among other things, maintaining and increasing BCBSRI dominant 

position and market power, keeping prices for commercial health insurance in Rhode 

Island higher than they would have been in a more competitive market, preserving 
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BCBSRI’s power to control price and exclude competition from the relevant market, and 

retarding the development in the market of innovative forms of health care delivery and 

financing that would have lowered the cost of health insurance for consumers in the 

relevant market.  The anticompetitive effects of the contracts, combinations, and 

conspiracy in the relevant market for the sale of commercial health insurance in Rhode 

Island exceeded their procompetitive benefits, if any, and if any procompetitive benefits 

were caused, they could have been achieved by less restrictive means and the restraints as 

alleged here were not reasonably necessary to achieve those procompetitive benefits. 

107. The unlawful contract, combination and conspiracy by BCBSRI, Lifespan 

and Thundermist unlawfully restrained trade in the market for the sale of commercial 

health insurance in Rhode Island in violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act. 

108. As a direct and proximate result of BCBSRI’s, Lifespan’s and 

Thundermist’s contract, combination and conspiracy in restraint of trade in the market for 

the sale of commercial health insurance in Rhode Island in violation of Section 1 of the 

Sherman Act, Steward has suffered injury to its business and property and damages in an 

amount to be proven at trial. 

COUNT V 
(Violation of § 2 of the Sherman Act: Unlawful Monopsonization  
of the Market for the Commercial Purchase of Hospital Services) 

 
109. Steward incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 77 above, as if 

fully alleged herein. 

110. The relevant geographic market is Rhode Island. 

111. The relevant product market is the market for the commercial purchase of 

hospital services, excluding government programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and 
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other products offered by health insurers such as Medicare Advantage that are not 

available to individuals who do not qualify for Medicare or Medicaid.   

112. BCBSRI possesses monopsony power in the market for the commercial 

purchase of hospital services in Rhode Island.  BCBSRI has abused and continues to 

abuse its monopsony power to maintain and enhance its market dominance as the largest 

non-governmental purchaser of hospital services in Rhode Island, including without 

limitation by preventing Steward from acquiring Landmark and RHRI and preventing 

Steward from acquiring and establishing an efficient network of community hospitals in 

and around Rhode Island.   

113. BCBSRI’s unlawful maintenance and abuse of its monopsony power 

includes, but is not limited to, the following conduct:  (a) BCBSRI refusing to enter into a 

contract with Steward providing for reasonable reimbursement rates at Landmark,  

notwithstanding its knowledge that having Landmark without a contract was more costly 

for BCBSRI than the rates Steward sought, but for the benefit to BCBSRI of excluding 

Steward from the market; (b) taking steps to materially adversely affect the financial 

condition of Landmark prior to Steward’s completion of its proposed acquisition of the 

hospital, in order to deter Steward from closing on its acquisition; (c) BCBSRI pressuring 

Thundermist and agreeing with Lifespan and Thundermist to work together to block 

Steward’s entry into the Rhode Island hospital services and commercial health insurance 

markets by, among other things, BCBSRI and Lifespan providing current benefits and 

promising future benefits to Thundermist on the condition that Thundermist not reach any 

agreement with Steward that would facilitate Steward’s completion of the acquisition of 

Landmark and entry into Rhode Island markets, and Thundermist refusing to reach any 
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such agreement; (d) BCBSRI terminating its contracts with Steward at St. Anne’s and 

refusing to enter into contracts with Steward at St. Anne’s, despite Steward having 

offered to accept more economically favorable terms to BCBSRI than BCBSRI would 

otherwise pay; and (e) BCBSRI, alone and in concert with others, preventing Steward 

from acquiring and establishing an efficient network of community hospitals in and 

around Rhode Island. 

114. BCBSRI’s conduct constitutes the unlawful establishment, maintenance or 

use of a monopsony in the relevant market for the commercial purchase of hospital 

services in violation of Section 2 of the Sherman Act. 

115. As a direct and proximate result of BCBSRI’s monopsonization of the 

market for the commercial purchase of hospital services in Rhode Island in violation of 

Section 2 of the Sherman Act, Steward has suffered injury to its business and property 

and damages in an amount to be proven at trial. 

COUNT VI 
(Violation of § 2 of the Sherman Act: Attempt to Monopsonize  
the Market for the Commercial Purchase of Hospital Services) 

 
116. Steward incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 77 above, as if 

fully alleged herein. 

117. The relevant geographic market is Rhode Island. 

118. The relevant product market is the market for the commercial purchase of 

hospital services, excluding government programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and 

other products offered by health insurers such as Medicare Advantage that are not 

available to individuals who do not qualify for Medicare or Medicaid.   
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119. BCBSRI has attempted, and continues to attempt, to acquire and possess 

monopsony power in the market for the commercial purchase of hospital services in 

Rhode Island.  BCBSRI—the largest non-governmental purchaser of hospital services in 

Rhode Island—has acted with the specific intent to monopsonize and has attempted to 

acquire and possess monopsony power, including without limitation by preventing 

Steward from acquiring Landmark and RHRI and preventing Steward from acquiring and 

establishing an efficient network of community hospitals in and around Rhode Island. 

120. BCBSRI’s attempt to monopsonize includes, but is not limited to, the 

following conduct:  (a) BCBSRI refusing to enter into a contract with Steward providing 

for reasonable reimbursement rates at Landmark, notwithstanding its knowledge that 

having Landmark without a contract was more costly for BCBSRI than the rates Steward 

sought, but for the benefit of excluding Steward from the market; (b) BCBSRI taking 

steps to materially adversely affect the financial condition of Landmark prior to 

Steward’s completion of its proposed acquisition of the hospital, in order to deter Steward 

from closing on its acquisition; (c) BCBSRI pressuring Thundermist and agreeing with 

Lifespan and Thundermist to work together to block Steward’s entry into the Rhode 

Island hospital services and commercial health insurance markets by, among other things, 

BCBSRI and Lifespan providing current benefits and promising future benefits to 

Thundermist on the condition that Thundermist not reach any agreement with Steward 

that would facilitate Steward’s completion of the acquisition of Landmark and entry into 

Rhode Island markets, and Thundermist refusing to reach any such agreement; (d) 

BCBSRI terminating its contracts with Steward at St. Anne’s and refusing to enter into 

contracts with Steward at St. Anne’s, despite Steward having offered to accept more 
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economically favorable terms to BCBSRI than BCBSRI would otherwise pay; and (e) 

BCBSRI, alone and in concert with others, preventing Steward from acquiring and 

establishing an efficient network of community hospitals in and around Rhode Island. 

121. BCBSRI’s scheme to monopsonize the relevant market for the commercial 

purchase of hospital services has had success in excluding and foreclosing competition, 

and there is, and has been at all times relevant hereto, a dangerous probability of success 

of BCBSRI monopsonizing this market. 

122. BCBSRI’s conduct constitutes an unlawful attempt to establish a 

monopsony in the relevant market for the commercial purchase of hospital services in 

violation of Section 2 of the Sherman Act. 

123. As a direct and proximate result of BCBSRI’s attempted monopsonization 

of the market for the commercial purchase of hospital services in Rhode Island in 

violation of Section 2 of the Sherman Act, Steward has suffered injury to its business and 

property and damages in an amount to be proven at trial. 

COUNT VII 
(Violation of §2 of the Sherman Act: Unlawful Conspiracy to Monopsonize  

the Market for Commercial Purchase of Hospital Services) 
 

124. Steward incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 77 above, as if 

fully alleged herein.  

125. The relevant geographic market is Rhode Island. 

126. The relevant product market is the market for the commercial purchase of 

hospital services in Rhode Island, excluding government programs, such as Medicare and 

Medicaid, and other products offered by health insurers, such as Medicare Advantage, 

that are not available to individuals who do not qualify for Medicare or Medicaid. 
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127. BCBSRI combined and conspired with Lifespan and Thundermist to 

exclude Steward and other potential entrants in order to establish or maintain BCBSRI’s 

monopsony power in the relevant market for the commercial purchase of hospital 

services in Rhode Island. 

128. BCBSRI, Lifespan, and Thundermist had the specific intent that BCBSRI 

would establish or maintain its monopsony power in the relevant market for the 

commercial purchase of hospital services in Rhode Island, and they consciously 

committed themselves to a common scheme designed to achieve the unlawful objectives. 

129. BCBSRI, Lifespan, and Thundermist performed overt acts in pursuit of 

their conspiracy to monopsonize, including but not limited to (a) BCBSRI refusing to 

enter into a contract with Steward providing for reasonable reimbursement rates at 

Landmark, notwithstanding its knowledge that having Landmark without a contract was 

more costly for BCBSRI than the rates Steward sought, but for the benefit to BCBSRI of 

excluding Steward from the market; (b) BCBSRI taking steps to materially adversely 

affect the financial condition of Landmark prior to Steward’s completion of its proposed 

acquisition of the hospital, in order to deter Steward from closing on its acquisition; (c) 

BCBSRI pressuring Thundermist and agreeing with Lifespan and Thundermist to work 

together to block Steward’s entry into the Rhode Island hospital services and commercial 

health insurance markets by, among other things, BCBSRI and Lifespan providing 

current benefits and promising future benefits to Thundermist on the condition that 

Thundermist not reach any agreement with Steward that would facilitate Steward’s 

completion of the acquisition of Landmark and entry into Rhode Island markets, and 

Thundermist refusing to reach any such agreement; (d) BCBSRI terminating its contracts 
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with Steward at St. Anne’s and refusing to enter into a contract with Steward at St. 

Anne’s, despite Steward having offered to accept terms more economically favorable to 

BCBSRI than BCBSRI would otherwise pay; (e) BCBSRI, alone and in concert with 

Lifespan and Thundermist,  preventing Steward from acquiring and establishing an 

efficient network of community hospitals in and around Rhode Island; and (f) BCBSRI, 

alone and in concert with Lifespan and Thundermist, excluding Steward from the market 

for the sale of commercial health insurance in Rhode Island. 

130. The unlawful agreements and concerted conduct by BCBSRI, Lifespan 

and Thundermist and overt acts in furtherance of those agreements with the specific 

intent to monopsonize the market for the commercial purchase of hospital services 

constitute unlawful conspiracy to monopsonize that market in violation of Section 2 of 

the Sherman Act. 

131. As a direct and proximate result of BCBSRI’s, Lifespan’s and 

Thundermist’s conspiracy to monopsonize the market for the commercial purchase of 

hospital services in Rhode Island in violation of Section 2 of the Sherman Act, Steward 

has suffered injury to its business and property and damages in an amount to be proven at 

trial. 

COUNT VIII 
(Violation of §1 of the Sherman Act: Unlawful Contract, Combination and 

Conspiracy in Restraint of Trade in the Market for the Commercial Purchase of 
Hospital Services) 

 
132. Steward incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 77 above, as if 

fully alleged herein.  

133. The relevant geographic market is Rhode Island. 
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134. The relevant product market is the market for the commercial purchase of 

hospital services. 

135. BCBSRI, Lifespan and Thundermist entered into a contract, combination, 

and conspiracy to restrain trade in the market for the commercial purchase of hospital 

services in Rhode Island by, among other things, agreeing to work together to block 

Steward’s entry.  They had a conscious commitment to a common scheme designed to 

achieve unlawful objectives, including preventing Steward’s entry into the relevant 

market, alone or in cooperation with another health insurance business, preventing 

Steward from facilitating increased competition with BCBSRI by creating an efficient 

network of hospitals in Rhode Island that could ease the entry or expansion by other 

sellers of commercial health insurance, and the prevention of new risk-sharing 

arrangements between hospitals and sellers of commercial health insurance that would 

have introduced new products into the relevant market and increased competition in the 

relevant market for the commercial purchase of hospital services.  

136. The contract, combination, and conspiracy between and among BCBSRI, 

Lifespan and Thundermist adversely affected competition and caused anticompetitive 

effects in the relevant market for the commercial purchase of hospital services in Rhode 

Island, including by, among other things, maintaining and increasing BCBSRI dominant 

position and market power, keeping prices for commercial health insurance in Rhode 

Island higher than they would have been in a more competitive market, preserving 

BCBSRI’s power to control price and exclude competition from the relevant market, and 

retarding the development in the market of innovative forms of health care delivery and 

financing that would have lowered the cost of health insurance for consumers in the 
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relevant market.  The anticompetitive effects of the contract, combinations, and 

conspiracy in the relevant market for the sale of commercial health insurance in Rhode 

Island exceeded their procompetitive benefits, if any, and if any procompetitive benefits 

were caused, they could have been achieved by less restrictive means and the restraints as 

alleged here were not reasonably necessary to achieve those procompetitive benefits. 

137. The unlawful contract, combination and conspiracy between and among 

BCBSRI, Lifespan and Thundermist unlawfully restrained trade in the market for the 

commercial purchase of hospital services in Rhode Island in violation of Section 1 of the 

Sherman Act. 

138. As a direct and proximate result of BCBSRI’s, Lifespan’s and 

Thundermist’s contract, combination and conspiracy in restraint of trade in the market for 

the commercial purchase of hospital services in Rhode Island in violation of Section 1 of 

the Sherman Act, Steward has suffered injury to its business and property and damages in 

an amount to be proven at trial. 

COUNT IX 
(Violation of § 6-36-5 of the Rhode Island Antitrust Act: Unlawful Monopolization 

of the Market for the Sale of Commercial Health Insurance) 
 

139. Steward incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 77 and 78 through 

84 above, as if fully alleged herein. 

140. BCBSRI’s conduct constitutes the unlawful establishment, maintenance or 

use of a monopoly in the relevant market for the sale of commercial health insurance in 

violation of Section 6-36-5 of the Rhode Island Antitrust Act. 

141. As a direct and proximate result of BCBSRI’s monopolization of the 

market for the sale of commercial health insurance in Rhode Island in violation of 
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Section 6-36-5 of the Rhode Island Antitrust Act, Steward has suffered injury to its 

business and property and damages in an amount to be proven at trial. 

COUNT X 
(Violation of § 6-36-5 of the Rhode Island Antitrust Act: Attempt to Monopolize the 

Market for the Sale of Commercial Health Insurance) 
 

142. Steward incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 77and 85 through 

92 above, as if fully alleged herein. 

143. BCBSRI’s conduct constitutes an unlawful attempt to establish a 

monopoly in the relevant market for the sale of commercial health insurance in Rhode 

Island in violation of Section 6-36-5 of the Rhode Island Antitrust Act. 

144. As a direct and proximate result of BCBSRI’s attempted monopolization 

of the market for the sale of commercial health insurance in Rhode Island in violation of 

Section 6-36-5 of the Rhode Island Antitrust Act, Steward has suffered injury to its 

business and property and damages in an amount to be proven at trial. 

COUNT XI 
Violation of § 6-36-4 of the Rhode Island Antitrust Act: Unlawful Conspiracy to 

Monopolize the Market for Sale of Commercial Health Insurance) 
 

145. Steward incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 77 and 93 through 

101 above, as if fully alleged herein. 

146. BCBSRI’s, Lifespan’s and Thundermist’s conduct constitutes an unlawful 

conspiracy to monopolize the market for the sale of commercial health insurance in 

Rhode Island in violation of Section 6-36-4 of the Rhode Island Antitrust Act. 

147. As a direct and proximate result of BCBSRI’s, Lifespan’s and 

Thundermist’s conspiracy to monopolize the market for the sale of commercial health 

insurance in Rhode Island in violation of Section 6-36-4 of the Rhode Island Antitrust 
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Act, Steward has suffered injury to its business and property and damages in an amount 

to be proven at trial. 

COUNT XII 
(Violation of § 6-36-4 of the Rhode Island Antitrust Act: Unlawful Contract, 
Combination and Conspiracy in Restraint of Trade in the Market for Sale of 

Commercial Health Insurance) 
 

148. Steward incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 77 and 102 

through 108 above, as if fully alleged herein. 

149. BCBSRI’s, Lifespan’s and Thundermist’s conduct constitutes an unlawful 

contract, combination and conspiracy to restrain trade in the market for the sale of 

commercial health insurance in Rhode Island in violation of Section 6-36-4 of the Rhode 

Island Antitrust Act. 

150. As a direct and proximate result of BCBSRI’s, Lifespan’s and 

Thundermist’s contract, combination and conspiracy in restraint of trade in the market for 

the sale of commercial health insurance in Rhode Island in violation of Section 6-36-4 of 

the Rhode Island Antitrust Act, Steward has suffered injury to its business and property 

and damages in an amount to be proven at trial. 

COUNT XIII 
(Violation of § 6-36-5 of the Rhode Island Antitrust Act: Unlawful Monopsonization 

of the Market for the Commercial Purchase of Hospital Services) 
 

151. Steward incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 77 and 109 

through 115 above, as if fully alleged herein. 

152. BCBSRI’s conduct constitutes the unlawful establishment, maintenance or 

use of a monopsony in the relevant market for the commercial purchase of hospital 

services in violation of Section 6-36-5 of the Rhode Island Antitrust Act. 
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153. As a direct and proximate result of BCBSRI’s monopsonization of the 

market for the commercial purchase of hospital services in Rhode Island in violation of 

Section 6-36-5 of the Rhode Island Antitrust Act, Steward has suffered injury to its 

business and property and damages in an amount to be proven at trial. 

COUNT XIV 
(Violation of § 6-36-5 of the Rhode Island Antitrust Act: Attempt to Monopsonize 

the Market for the Commercial Purchase of Hospital Services) 
 

154. Steward incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 77 and 116 

through 123 above, as if fully alleged herein. 

155. BCBSRI’s conduct constitutes an unlawful attempt to establish a 

monopsony in the relevant market for the commercial purchase of hospital services in 

violation of Section 6-36-5 of the Rhode Island Antitrust Act. 

156. As a direct and proximate result of BCBSRI’s attempted monopsonization 

of the market for the commercial purchase of hospital services in violation of Section 6-

36-5 of the Rhode Island Antitrust Act, Steward has suffered injury to its business and 

property and damages in an amount to be proven at trial 

COUNT XV 
(Violation of § 6-36-4 of the Rhode Island Antitrust Act: Unlawful Conspiracy to 

Monopsonize the Market for the Commercial Purchase of Hospital Services) 
 

157. Steward incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 77 and 124 

through 131 above, as if fully alleged herein. 

158. BCBSRI’s, Lifespan’s and Thundermist’s conduct constitutes the unlawful 

conspiracy to monopsonize the relevant market for the commercial purchase of hospital 

services in violation of Section 6-36-4 of the Rhode Island Antitrust Act. 
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159. As a direct and proximate result of BCBSRI’s, Lifespan’s and 

Thundermist’s conspiring to monopsonize the market for the commercial purchase of 

hospital services in Rhode Island in violation of Section 6-36-4 of the Rhode Island 

Antitrust Act, Steward has suffered injury to its business and property and damages in an 

amount to be proven at trial. 

COUNT XVI 
(Violation of § 6-36-4 of the Rhode Island Antitrust Act: Unlawful Contract, 

Combination and Conspiracy in Restraint of Trade in the Market for the 
Commercial Purchase of Hospital Services) 

 
160. Steward incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 77 and 132 

through 138 above, as if fully alleged herein. 

161. BCBSRI’s, Lifespan’s and Thundermist’s conduct constitutes an unlawful 

contract, combination and conspiracy to restrain trade in the market for the commercial 

purchase of hospital services in Rhode Island in violation of Section 6-36-4 of the Rhode 

Island Antitrust Act. 

162. As a direct and proximate result of BCBSRI’s, Lifespan’s and 

Thundermist’s contract, combination and conspiracy in restraint of trade in the market for 

the commercial purchase of hospital services in Rhode Island in violation of Section 6-

36-4 of the Rhode Island Antitrust Act, Steward has suffered injury to its business and 

property and damages in an amount to be proven at trial. 

COUNT XVII 
(Tortious Interference with Contractual Relations) 

 
163. Steward incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 77 above, as if 

fully alleged herein.   

164. This claim is brought pursuant to Rhode Island common law. 
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165. BCBSRI knew that Steward had entered into an Asset Purchase 

Agreement with Landmark, in which Steward committed to purchase Landmark and 

RHRI if certain conditions were met. 

166. BCBSRI intentionally, improperly, and without justification acted with the 

purpose of interfering with the Asset Purchase Agreement by engaging in the conduct 

described herein including, but not limited to, (a) refusing to enter into a contract with 

Steward providing for reasonable reimbursement rates for Landmark, (b) taking steps that 

materially adversely affected the financial condition of Landmark prior to Steward’s 

completion of its proposed acquisition, and (c) conspiring to prevent Steward from 

entering  into contracts with third parties, including the Thundermist Health Center. 

167. BCBSRI’s conduct substantially interfered with and prevented Steward 

from acquiring Landmark and RHRI under the Asset Purchase Agreement, resulting in 

damages to Steward in an amount to be proven at trial.   

COUNT XVIII 
(Interference with Prospective Contractual Relations) 

 
168. Steward incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 77 above, as if 

fully alleged herein. 

169. This claim is brought pursuant to Rhode Island common law. 

170. BCBSRI knew that Steward had a reasonable expectancy of entering into 

contracts and other business relationships with local health care providers serving the 

Woonsocket community, including Thundermist Health Center. 

171. BCBSRI intentionally, improperly, and without justification acted with the 

purpose of interfering with Steward’s prospective contractual and business relations by 
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engaging in the conduct described herein including, but not limited to, conspiring with 

others to prevent local health care providers from dealing with Steward.   

172. It is reasonably probable that but for BCBSRI’s conduct, Steward would 

have entered into contracts and other business relationships with local health care 

providers such as Thundermist.   

173. As a direct and proximate result of BCBSRI’s conduct, Steward suffered 

damages in an amount to be proven at trial.   

DEMAND FOR TRIAL BY JURY 

 Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 38(b), Steward hereby demands a 

trial by jury on all issues so triable. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Steward hereby prays that this Court: 

a. Enter judgment for Steward on all counts of this Complaint; 

b. Adjudge and declare that BCBSRI has engaged in unlawful conduct in violation 

of Sections 1 and  2 of the Sherman Act and Sections 6-36-4 and 6-36-5 of the 

Rhode Island Antitrust Act, R.I. Gen Laws § 6-36-1, et seq., and that it has 

tortiously interfered with Steward’s contractual and prospective contractual 

relations; 

c. Award Steward damages in an amount to be proven at trial, with damages for its 

violation of Sections 1 and 2 of the Sherman Act and Sections 6-36-4 and 6-36-5 

of the Rhode Island Antitrust Act to be trebled with interest; 

d. Award Steward the costs of this suit, including the expenses of discovery and 

document production, and its reasonable attorneys’ fees; and 
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e. Award such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.  

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
/s/ Robert C. Corrente 
Robert C. Corrente (RI Bar No.2632) 
WHELAN, CORRENTE, KINDER & SIKET 
LLP 
A100 Westminster Street, Suite 710 
Providence, RI 02903 
Tel: (401) 270-1333 
rcorrente@wckslaw.com 
 
 

      /s/ Mark S. Levinstein 
Brendan V. Sullivan, Jr. (RI Bar No. 0789) 
Steven R. Kuney (pro hac vice) 
Mark Levinstein (pro hac vice) 
Kevin Hardy (pro hac vice) 
WILLIAMS & CONNOLLY LLP 
725 12th Street, N.W. 
Washington, DC  20005 
Tel: (202) 434-5000 
Fax: (202) 434-5029 
bsullivan@wc.com 
skuney@wc.com 
mlevinstein@wc.com 
khardy@wc.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs Steward Health Care 
System LLC, Blackstone Medical Center, Inc., 
and Blackstone Rehabilitation Hospital, Inc. 

 
 
 
Dated:  August 26, 2015 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

The undersigned hereby certifies that service on all parties of the foregoing document has 

been accomplished via electronic filing on the Court’s ECF system, and it is available for 

viewing and downloading from the ECF system.   

 

/s/ Mark S. Levinstein     
Mark S. Levinstein 
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